
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

HOUSTON DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
)

Plaintiff, )
)

v. ) No. CR-H-02-0597
)

DAVID BERMINGHAM, )
GILES DARBY and )
GARY MULGREW, )

)
Defendants. )

UNITED STATES’ MOTION TO STRIKE THE HONEST SERVICES FRAUD
ALLEGATIONS FROM THE INDICTMENT

The United States of America, by and through the undersigned attorneys, respectfully

moves the Court to strike the honest services fraud allegations from the indictment in the above

captioned case.    

I. BACKGROUND 

Defendants were charged with seven counts of wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§

1343, 1346 and 2, in an indictment returned by the Grand Jury on September 12, 2002.  All seven

charged wirings either originated in, or were destined for, Houston.  These wirings were done in

furtherance of the following scheme to defraud, as alleged in the indictment: 

THE SCHEME TO DEFRAUD 

10.  Between approximately February 2000 and August 2000, defendants
DAVID BERMINGHAM, GILES DARBY, and GARY MULGREW, and others,
devised and executed a scheme to defraud NatWest and GNW and deprive them
of money and their right to honest services by recommending to GNW that it
sell its interest in Swap Sub for only $1 million, when the defendants knew
GNW’s interest was worth far more, and when the defendants were planning
fraudulently to convert the balance of GNW’s interest to themselves and others. 
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  The allegation that Defendants deprived their employer of their honest services appears1

twice elsewhere in the indictment.  Indictment at ¶¶ 17 and 23. 

  In addition to the means for committing wire fraud set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 13432

(scheme or artifice to defraud for money or property); 18 U.S.C. § 1346 provides that a “scheme
or artifice to defraud” also includes a scheme or artifice to deprive another of the intangible right
of honest services.  Even though the scheme to defraud encompasses more than one allegation,
the Jury need not find the defendants guilty of each and every allegation. However, the jury must
unanimously agree on which allegation the defendant(s) are guilty.  See Richardson v. United
States, 119 S.Ct. 1707 (1999); United States v. Correa-Ventura, 6 F.3d 1070 (5  Cir. 1993);th

Fifth Circuit Pattern Jury Instruction 1.25 (2001).  While the United States could isolate the basis
of the jury’s determination of guilt by requesting a special verdict form, for the reasons stated
herein, the United States desires to simply strike the honest services allegation.

2

Indictment at ¶10 (emphasis added).   Thus, the scheme as charged advances two separate means1

by which the Defendants committed wire fraud: (1) deprivation of property and (2) deprivation of

the right to honest services.      2

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Defendants filed a motion to dismiss all seven counts in the indictment (docket number

90) on November 3, 2006, based on the argument, among others, that the honest services theory

in the indictment does not state a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343.  Mot. to Dismiss at 1.  At the

time Defendants filed their motion to dismiss, the United States had been considering not

advancing the deprivation of honest services allegations charged in the indictment at trial in the

interest of simplifying and streamlining the presentation of evidence and, in the event of

conviction, to avoid any potential issues on appeal.  Upon realizing that the Defendants’ intend to

make the honest services allegation of the indictment a focal point of their pre-trial motions, the

United States has decided, in the interest of efficiency as well as the reasons outlined above, to
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  The relief sought by this motion is not in response to the substance of any arguments3

presented in the Defendants’ pre-trial motions.  The United States continues to believe that the
Defendants’ arguments regarding the honest services allegations are without merit.

  On November 20, 2006, the Court struck Defendants’ pretrial motions from the record,4

including the motion to dismiss and motion for bill of particulars.  

  As this is the entirety of Paragraph 9, instead of renumbering the whole indictment, the5

United States proposes inserting [Intentionally Left Blank] in place of the current paragraph.

3

seek removal of such allegations from the indictment.3

As the United States’ decision to forego an honest services theory of prosecution renders

much of the Defendant’s previously filed motion to dismiss and motion for bill of particulars 

moot, and in accordance with Local Rule 12.2, the United States has informed the Defendants of

its intention to move the Court to strike the deprivation of honest services allegations from the

indictment.   The Defendants have indicated that they do not object to the relief sought by this4

motion.

III. ARGUMENT 

The United States moves the Court to remove the honest services fraud allegations from

the indictment by making the following deletions to the following paragraphs in the indictment

(identified by bold and strike through):

9.  As GNW employees, defendants BERMINGHAM, DARBY, and
MULGREW each owed a duty to provide GNW and NatWest with their
honest services.5

* * * 

10.  Between approximately February 2000 and August 2000, defendants
DAVID BERMINGHAM, GILES DARBY, and GARY MULGREW, and others,
devised and executed a scheme to defraud NatWest and GNW and deprive them
of money and their right to honest services by recommending to GNW that it
sell its interest in Swap Sub for only $1 million, when the defendants knew
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  If the Court intends to submit the indictment to the jury following the presentation of6

evidence, the United States can submit a redacted indictment that omits the honest services
language. 

4

GNW’s interest was worth far more, and when the defendants were planning
fraudulently to convert the balance of GNW’s interest to themselves and others. 

* * * 

17.  Subsequently, the defendants, still purporting to represent GNW’s
interests, agreed with Enron’s CFO and Michael Kopper on how to carry out the
scheme.  In furtherance of the scheme, Kopper prepared a letter in which he
proposed that a company under his control purchase GNW’s interest in Swap Sub
for $1 million.  Defendants MULGREW and DARBY, in violation of their duty
to provide honest services to NatWest, GNW and Campsie, recommended that
GNW accept the $1 million offer.  Subsequently, in violation of his duties to
NatWest, GNW and Campsie, defendant Bermingham recommended to
Campsie’s Board of Directors that it accept the offer.  Meanwhile, at the same
time the defendants were encouraging GNW’s acceptance of the $1 million offer,
they were making arrangements to skim for themselves the balance of GNW’s
Swap Sub interest.  

* * * 

23. On or about the dates set forth below, in the Southern District of Texas
the elsewhere, the defendants DAVID BERMINGHAM, GILES DARBY, and
GARY MULGREW, and others, having devised the above-described scheme and
artifice to defraud and to obtain money and property by means of materially false
and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, and to deprive NatWest
and GNW of their intangible right to an employee’s honest services, for the
purpose of executing such scheme and artifice transmitted and cause to be
transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate and foreign commerce
writings, signs, signals, pictures and sounds, including the following [counts
omitted] . . . All in violation of United States Code, Sections 1343 and 1346, and
2.  

All as illustrated in Attachment A.   6

The Fifth Circuit and the D.C. Circuit have both held, citing Supreme Court precedent,

that courts may delete theories of prosecution and proof from an indictment so long as doing so

narrows, as opposed to expands, the charges a defendant faces.  In United States v. Glassman, the
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5

Fifth Circuit upheld a conviction after the district could had deleted an alternative bases of

conviction from an indictment without requiring the government to resubmit the indictment to a

grand jury.  562 F.2d 954 (5  Cir. 1977).  The Court reasoned: th

The Supreme Court in Russell v. United States, 369 U.S. 749, 82 S.Ct. 1038, 8
L.Ed.2d 240 (1962), held that in federal courts an indictment may not be amended
except by resubmission to the grand jury unless the change is merely a matter of
form.  Subsequent cases out of this circuit have not interpreted this as restricting
deletion of surplusage from the indictment.  Therefore, we find this is not an
amendment.  The deletion eliminated one of the alternatives specified in the
statute and added nothing to the indictment.  The remaining allegation charged an
offense under 18 U.S.C. §§ 1462 and 2.  

Id. at 957 (citing United States v. Prior, 546 F.2d 1254 (5th Cir. 1977); United States v.

Musgrave, 483 F.2d 327 (5th Cir. 1973), cert. denied 414 U.S. 1023, 94 S.Ct. 447, 38 L.Ed.2d

315 (1973) and Womack v. United States, 414 U.S. 1025, 94 S.Ct. 450, 38 L.Ed.2d 316 (1973);

Thomas v. United States, 398 F.2d 531 (5th Cir. 1967); Marsh v. United States, 344 F.2d 317

(5th Cir. 1965); Overstreet v. United States, 321 F.2d 459 (5th Cir. 1963), cert. denied 376 U.S.

919, 84 S.Ct. 675, 11 L.Ed.2d 614 (1964)).  That is what the United States proposes to do

here–eliminate one of the alternative bases for conviction.  

In United States v. Pigrum, the Fifth Circuit upheld the validity of a conviction after the

district court amended an indictment to strike language where doing so “reduced the defendant’s

exposure to conviction.”  922 F.2d 249, 254 (5  Cir. 1991).  Similarly, eliminating the honestth

services fraud allegations from the indictment reduces defendant’s exposure to the extent that the

United States will proceed at trial against Defendants solely on the ground that they deprived

NatWest and GNW of money and property.  

In United States v. Poindexter, the United States moved to strike language from the first
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count of a two-count indictment (but not dismiss the entire count) that had the effect of

narrowing its proof under that count.  The defendant objected and argued that he was entitled to

be tried under the broader indictment returned by the grand jury “and none other.”  719 F.Supp. 6

8 (D.C. Cir. 1989)   The Court rejected this argument and reasoned: 

That argument conflicts head-on with the decision of the Supreme Court in United
States v. Miller, 471 U.S. 130, 105 S.Ct. 1811, 85 L.Ed.2d 99 (1985).  In that case,
a unanimous Supreme Court upheld the validity of a conviction upon proof that
was narrower than the indictment.  In the view of the Supreme Court, this change
in the proof did not deprive the defendant of his right to be tried on an indictment
returned by a grand jury.  On the same principle, the reduction of the language of
an indictment does not deny to a defendant his grand jury rights, provided that (1)
the indictment as so narrowed continues to state a complete criminal offense, and
(2) the offense is contained in the indictment as originally returned.  

Id. at 8-9 (citing Salinger v. United States, 272 U.S. 542, 548-49, 47 S.Ct. 173, 175, 71 L.Ed. 398

(1926); United States v. Zauber, 857 F.2d 137, 151 (3rd Cir.1988); United States v. Diaz, 690

F.2d 1352, 1356 (11th Cir.1982); United States v. Milestone, 626 F.2d 264, 268 (3rd Cir.1980);

United States v. Lyman, 592 F.2d 496, 500 (9th Cir.1978); Thomas v. United States, 398 F.2d

531 (5th Cir.1967)).  Similarly, the “reduction of the language” of the indictment proposed here

does not deny the defendants their grand jury rights.  

In relevant part, the federal wire-fraud statute subjects to punishment: 

Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud,
or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses ···
transmits or causes to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, or television
communication in interstate or foreign commerce, any writings ··· for the purpose
of executing such scheme or artifice, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned
not more than five years, or both.  

18 U.S.C. § 1343.  Thus the elements of an offense of wire fraud are: (1) a scheme or artifice to

defraud; (2) to obtain money or property; (3) through the use or by causing the use of wire
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communications in furtherance of the scheme; and (4) the defendant’s intent to defraud or

deceive his victims.”  See United States v. Keller, 14 F.3d 1051, 1056 (5  Cir. 1994). th

In this case, “the indictment follows the statutory language of [section 1343]”, United

States v. Thomas, 348 F.3d 78, 82 (5  Cir. 2003), to the letter.   The indictment alleges thatth

defendants devised a “scheme and artifice to defraud NatWest and GNW to obtain money and

property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses.”  Indictment ¶ 23.  Further, the

indictment alleges that, “for the purpose of executing the scheme,” defendants on seven separate

occasions from March 6, 2000 to May 1, 2000, “transmitted and caused to be transmitted, by

means of wire communication in interstate and foreign commerce, writings, signs, signals,

pictures and sounds” from Houston to London and the Cayman Islands.  Id.  Thus, the

“indictment as so narrowed continues to state a complete criminal offense and the offense is

contained in the indictment as originally returned.”  Poindexter, 719 F.Supp. 6 at 8.     

Finally, by seeking to remove the honest services language of the indictment, the United

States is in no way waiving its right to present evidence relevant to the deprivation of property

allegations in the indictment, including, but not limited to, “policies, compliance procedures,

ethical standards, and conflict of interest rules restricting employees’ use of confidential

corporate information and mandating that employees avoid conflicts between their personal

interests and the interests of NatWest or GNW and its clients.”  Indictment ¶ 2.  Such evidence is

probative of defendants’ state of mind as it relates to the allegations of deprivation of money and

property contained in the indictment. 
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IV. CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the United States respectfully requests that the Court

strike the honest services fraud allegations from the indictment.

December 4, 2006
Houston, TX

Respectfully submitted,

STEVEN A. TYRRELL 
Acting United States Attorney

____/s/_____________________
Leo Wise
Jonathan Lopez 

Trial Attorneys, Fraud Section  
United States Department of Justice 
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CERTIFICATE OF CONFERENCE

I hereby certify that the United States has, in accordance with Criminal Local Rule 12.2,
conferred with defense counsel of record about the foregoing Motion.  Defense counsel does not
oppose the relief sought in the foregoing motion.  Defense counsel has indicated that their non-
opposition to the relief sought in the Motion does not operate as a waiver to any other relief they
may seek in challenging the indictment or the merits of the case.

____/s/_____________
Jonathan Lopez
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 4th day of December 2006, I caused a true and correct copy of
the foregoing filing to be served via the ECF system upon the following counsel of record:

Reid M. Figel, Esq. 
Kellogg, Huber, Hansen, Todd & Evans, P.L.L.C.
Sumner Square
1615 M Street, NE
Washington, DC 20036
rfigel@khhte.com

Dick DeGuerin, Esq. 
DeGuerin and Dickson 
1018 Preston Ave 
7th Fl 
Houston, TX 77002 
DdeGuerin@aol.com

Dan Cogdell, Esq.  
Cogdell Law Firm 
402 Main Street
Houston, TX 77002
dan@cogdell-law.com

____/s/_____________________
Jonathan Lopez
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